IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SAMUEL HOWARD,

Appellant,

v.

WILLIAM GITTERE, Warden,
AARON D. FORD, Attorney General
for the State of Nevada,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case Nos. 81278,
81279

Electronically Filed
Jun 25 2020 10:49 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Underlying Case Nos. 81C053867;
A-18-780434-W

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

**Appeal from Order Denying Petition for
Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)**

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

HENDRON LAW GROUP LLC
LANCE J. HENDRON
Nevada Bar No. 11151
E-mail: lance@ghlawnv.com
625 S. Eighth St.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Tel: (702) 758-5858
Fax: (702) 387-0034

FEDERAL DEFENDER

I. JURISDICTION

The instant appeal arises from a district court's denial of post-conviction relief in a death-penalty case. Below, the district court entered notice of its dispositive order on May 21, 2020. Vol. 3 at 528.¹ Appellant Samuel Howard filed a timely notice of appeal on May 29, 2020. Vol. 3 at 560. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 34.575(1). The appeal is from a final order denying the post-conviction petition.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The matter at bar is presumptively retained by this Court under NRAP 17(a)(1) because it is a death-penalty case.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review is whether Mr. Howard's death sentence must be vacated because the sole supporting aggravating circumstance has been invalidated.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The pleading that triggered the proceedings below was Mr. Howard's sixth petition for post-conviction relief, which he filed on September 4, 2018. Vol. 1 at 1. In the petition, Mr. Howard alleged that his death sentence was unconstitutional

¹ Citations to the Appendix are in the format used above.

because the final surviving aggravating circumstance—a prior conviction² in New York—had been struck down by a state court in Queens. Vol. 1 at 11. Mr. Howard attacked the penalty as cruel and unusual under the holding of *Johnson v. Mississippi*, 486 U.S. 578 (1988), which struck down a death sentence by the authority of the Eighth Amendment when a prior-conviction aggravator had been invalidated by the courts of the originating jurisdiction. Vol. 1 at 11.

On October 30, 2019, the State filed an opposition and motion to dismiss the petition. Vol. 1 at 22. Mr. Howard responded to the motion on December 2, 2019, Vol. 2 at 317, and, on December 19, 2019, the State filed a reply in support, Vol. 2 at 446. After canceling oral argument due to the coronavirus pandemic, the district court issued a minute order on May 4, 2020. Vol. 2 at 465. The minute order announced that the district court had decided to deny the post-conviction petition in this capital case as procedurally barred, a decision that it justified with exactly four sentences of reasoning and no citations to any caselaw, Vol. 2 at 465, even though there were about seventy pages of briefing before the judge associated with the motion to dismiss, Vol. 1 at 22–48, Vol. 2 at 317–42, 446–64. On the question of whether the New York order rendered Mr. Howard actually innocent of the death penalty, which the parties had briefed extensively, Vol. 1 at 39–41, 43–47,

² Mr. Howard uses the term “conviction” in reference to the Queens proceedings for ease of reference. He does not thereby concede that there was ever a valid conviction in New York—a matter he is contesting in other cases.

Vol. 2 at 331–35, 459–60, the minute order offered no analysis whatsoever, Vol. 2 at 465.

On May 18, 2020, the State submitted a proposed order to the district court. Vol. 3 at 467–96, 527. The order was thirty pages long and nearly all of the text in it had appeared in the State’s motion to dismiss and reply in support, with slight variation. Vol. 1 at 22–48, Vol. 2 at 446–64, Vol. 3 at 467–96. More than thirty-five different cases were cited in the proposed order. Vol. 3 at 467–96. There was a detailed exploration in the proposed order of whether Mr. Howard was actually innocent of the death penalty. Vol. 3 at 490–95. The very same day it was submitted—May 18, 2020—the district court signed the proposed order without making a single change. Vol. 3 at 467–527. This appeal followed.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 24, 1978, Dorothy Weisband was robbed in Queens, New York. Vol. 2 at 402–04. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Howard was charged with the crime. Vol. 2 at 445. During jury selection, Mr. Howard failed to appear at the courthouse. Vol. 2 at 353. Despite his absence, the trial continued and the jury returned a guilty verdict on July 13, 1979. Vol. 2 at 353. No sentence or judgment was ever imposed for the offense. Vol. 2 at 353.

On March 27, 1980, George Monahan was murdered in Las Vegas. Vol. 3 at 499. Mr. Howard was convicted of the offense in 1983. *See Howard v. State*

(*Howard I*), 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986) (per curiam). At the penalty phase of his trial, Mr. Howard was sentenced to death on the basis of two aggravating circumstances: (1) a previous conviction for a violent felony in New York, i.e., the Weisband robbery; and (2) committing the charged murder while engaged in the commission of robbery. See *Howard v. State (Howard II)*, 106 Nev. 713, 720, 800 P.2d 175, 179 (1990), *abrogated on other grounds by Harte v. State*, 116 Nev. 1054, 1072 n.6, 13 P.3d 420, 432 n.6 (2000) (en banc) (per curiam). Since then, Mr. Howard has been challenging his murder conviction and death sentence in various proceedings in state and federal court. The proceedings most directly relevant to the instant appeal began with Mr. Howard's fourth application for state post-conviction relief.

In that application, Mr. Howard challenged both aggravating circumstances and raised a series of other claims whose substance is not germane here. See *Howard v. State (Howard III)*, No. 57469, 2014 WL 3784121, at *1–6 (July 30, 2014) (per curiam) (table).³ The trial court denied relief. See *id.* at *1. On appeal, this Court sustained Mr. Howard's challenge to the robbery-murder aggravating circumstance and invalidated it. See *id.* at *6. However, the Court upheld the

³ To the extent necessary, Mr. Howard asks the Court to take judicial notice of all of the documents previously lodged here in his previous appeals and referred to in this brief. See *Mack v. Estate of Mack*, 125 Nev. 80, 91, 206 P.3d 98, 106 (2009) (en banc) (taking judicial notice of court proceedings).

prior-felony aggravating circumstance and with it the death sentence as a whole.

See id. at *5–6.

On May 22, 2018, on Mr. Howard’s motion, the Queens County Supreme Court vacated his indictment and conviction for the Weisband robbery because the case had never concluded in violation of his right under New York law to be sentenced without unreasonable delay. Vol. 2 at 355. In his order, the New York judge found that the authorities there knew Mr. Howard’s whereabouts since at least 1980 and made no effort to have him sentenced on the robbery, which they could have done had they chosen to. Vol. 2 at 353–55. Based on the judge’s order, the Queens County Clerk issued a certificate indicating that Mr. Howard’s “arrest and prosecution” for the robbery “shall be deemed a nullity and the accused shall be restored, in contemplation of law, to the status occupied before the arrest and prosecution.” Vol. 2 at 358.⁴ In the Queens case, the New York prosecutor did not appeal, and the order became final. Vol. 1 at 21.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is an exceptionally straightforward case, because Mr. Howard’s death sentence now lacks the most basic element needed to make it lawful: an

⁴ In this brief, unless otherwise noted, all internal quotation marks and citations are omitted and all emphasis is added.

aggravating circumstance. Each of the aggravators found by the jury have been invalidated. His death sentence must therefore be vacated.

The district court found Mr. Howard's claim procedurally defaulted, but he has cause and prejudice because he could not have raised the issue until his prior conviction was set aside, and he did so in a timely fashion after it was. Moreover, even if a bar applies, it is excused by actual innocence since the invalidation of the prior conviction renders him ineligible for the death penalty.

VII. ARGUMENT

Mr. Howard will first address why his petition is not procedurally barred and then why it is meritorious.⁵

A. The Petition is Not Procedurally Barred

Overlooking the fact that Mr. Howard's claim only became available a few months before he filed his petition, and misunderstanding the nature of actual innocence, the district court relied upon procedural bar. Vol. 3 at 510–25. It did so in error and should be reversed.

When reviewing a district judge's application of procedural bar, this Court defers to the lower tribunal's findings of facts but considers its legal determinations de novo. *See State v. Huebler*, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95

⁵ Many of the issues in this brief are interrelated. Therefore, Mr. Howard incorporates every section of the pleading into every other section.

(2012) (en banc). In the present case, there are no disputes regarding the facts. To the contrary, the essential facts are agreed upon by all and are quite simple: two aggravators were found by the jury; one was invalidated by this Court; and the second was based on a prior conviction subsequently struck down by a competent New York judge. *See supra* at Part V. The debate is over the legal significance of those facts. Vol. 1 at 22–48, Vol. 2 at 317–42, 446–64. Accordingly, no deference is called for.

Even if some level of deference was appropriate in this general legal context, it should not be afforded under the circumstances of the case at hand. As detailed above, the district court signed the State’s thirty-page proposed order (which was itself just a slightly revised version of the motion to dismiss and reply in support) without changes on the same day it was submitted, after giving the prosecutor no meaningful guidance on how to address any issue in the case and no guidance whatsoever on how to deal with actual innocence, one of the most important questions in the case. *See supra* at Part IV. Confirming the judicial abdication of responsibility, the proposed order suffered from a number of typos, none of which were corrected by the district court before it reflexively signed the document.⁶

⁶ *See, e.g.*, Vol. 3 at 497 (referring mistakenly to May 4, 2019 instead of 2020); Vol. 3 at 510 (describing a pleading wrongly as the fifth post-conviction petition instead of the sixth); Vol. 3 at 512 (using the word “has” incorrectly instead of “have”); Vol. 3 at 521 (employing the phrase “to the time” ungrammatically

The district court’s order is not an outgrowth of any reasoned judicial deliberation. It is an interested party’s litigation work-product, which was rubber-stamped by the district court without any apparent direction, oversight, or reflection. *See Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, N.C.*, 470 U.S. 564, 572 (1985) (warning against the “potential for overreaching and exaggeration on the part of [the] attorneys preparing findings of fact”); *Bright v. Westmoreland Cty.*, 380 F.3d 729, 732 (3d Cir. 2004) (strongly critiquing a trial judge for signing an opinion prepared by a litigant because “when a court adopts a party’s proposed opinion as its own, the court vitiates the vital purposes served by judicial opinions”). By virtue of their life-and-death stakes, capital cases demand a “*greater* degree of scrutiny,” *California v. Ramos*, 463 U.S. 992, 998–99 (1983), which certainly is not provided when a district judge essentially endorses a lengthy, complex brief as his own decision on the same day it was proposed to him. Even if it might otherwise be proper, no deference is due for such an order, particularly in a case raising a substantial challenge to a death sentence.

1. The Petition is Not Time barred

Turning to the specific bars at issue, the district court first deemed the petition untimely under NRS 34.726(1). Vol. 3 at 511. Under the usual rules, Mr.

instead of “at the time”); Vol. 3 at 525 (mentioning the “Petition” by accident instead of the “Petitioner”).

Howard's petition would have been due on January 1, 1994, *see* NRS 34.726(1); *Rippo v. State*, 134 Nev. 411, 422, 423 P.3d 1084, 1097 (2018) (en banc), *amended on rehearing on unrelated grounds*, 432 P.3d 167 (2018) (en banc) (per curiam) (table), and such a deadline was not complied with here. However, the statute does not defeat merits review where a petitioner can show good cause and prejudice. *See, e.g., State v. Boston*, 131 Nev. 981, 984, 363 P.3d 453, 455 (2015) (en banc); *Wilson v. State (Wilson II)*, 127 Nev. 740, 744, 267 P.3d 58, 60 (2011) (en banc). Mr. Howard can demonstrate both.

a. Mr. Howard Has Good Cause

There is good cause for missing the one-year deadline codified in NRS 34.726(1) if the claim was raised “within a reasonable time after it became available.” *Wilson II*, 127 Nev. at 745, 267 P.3d at 61; *accord Boston*, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d at 455. One year is a “reasonable time” under NRS 34.726(1). *See Rippo*, 134 Nev. at 421, 423 P.3d at 1097.

A rote application of this test dictates a result in Mr. Howard's favor. Mr. Howard's claim is that the New York order nixing his robbery conviction infected his Nevada death sentence with constitutional infirmity. Vol. 1 at 11. By definition, he could not have offered that theory until the New York order appeared. Accordingly, his claim became available, at the earliest, on May 22, 2018, when the Queens County Supreme Court released its decision. Vol. 2 at

355. Mr. Howard filed the petition in this case on September 4, 2018. Vol. 1 at 1. That is well short of a year from May 22, 2018, and pursuant to *Rippo*, his petition is timely.

Despite this clear picture, the district court homed in on the length of time that elapsed after Mr. Howard’s sentencing and before he litigated his robbery conviction in New York. Vol. 3 at 513 (insisting that Mr. Howard “should have raised that issue with the New York courts” earlier). In so doing, the district court misapprehended the meaning of the word “available.” According to the first definition in a preeminent dictionary, the term signifies “present or ready for immediate use.” See <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/available> [<https://perma.cc/YJ6S-89G6>]. A claim based on a conviction being invalidated is obviously not “ready for immediate use” when the conviction has not yet been invalidated. Following the plain language of this Court and the ordinary meaning of its terminology, Mr. Howard’s claim was undeniably brought within a year of it being available, and it is thus timely.

Aside from having no foothold in binding precedent, the district court’s test is unworkable. The district court insinuated that Mr. Howard’s campaign against his robbery conviction in New York was founded on the absence of a sentence in that jurisdiction, and that as a result he could have sought recourse in Queens at any time after the jury found him guilty in absentia. Vol. 3 at 517–18 (“Petitioner

could have challenged the infirmity of his New York conviction at any time since trial.”). Not so. The New York order was instead rooted in the unreasonable delay in sentencing Mr. Howard. Vol. 2 at 355 (characterizing Mr. Howard’s “position” as that “he is entitled to relief afforded by [N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 380.30(1)] in that his sentence must be pronounced without reasonable delay” and subsequently agreeing with that position and vacating the conviction); *see* N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 380.30(1) (“Sentence must be pronounced without unreasonable delay.”). According to the district judge, Mr. Howard should be faulted for not going into New York court right after his robbery trial, even though he would have had no vehicle to protest his conviction at that time. That is illogical in the extreme. The far more natural approach is to say that “available” means “available,” and the claim had only to be brought within a reasonable time of the New York court acting, just as Mr. Howard did.

The cases cited by the district court on this subject do not compel a different result. Vol. 3 at 514–15. In the referenced cases, this Court characterized claims as previously “available” because the facts allowing them to be brought existed before the limitations period closed, which is not true here. For instance, in *Hathaway v. State*, 119 Nev. 248, 253–54, 71 P.3d 503, 507 (2003) (per curiam), the Court used, as examples of claims that are immediately available, situations where “counsel failed to inform the petitioner of the right to appeal,” where the

defendant “received misinformation about the right to appeal,” or where “counsel refused to file an appeal after the petitioner requested” one. Similarly, in *Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860, 889–90, 34 P.3d 519, 538–39 (2001) (en banc) (per curiam), this Court considered a claim available earlier when it was based on the defendant’s mental health at the time of the offense. These are all facts that arise before the conviction is final. That is, information about a defendant’s mental state when the crime occurred is by definition information that has already come into being by the time of post-conviction. Likewise, a defendant who has been misled or defied by a lawyer about his appeal is aware of that shortly after trial. The lesson of such cases is that a claim is available when the factual basis for it is out there in the world at the time the statute of limitations expired, and had only to be collected and presented by the inmate. That is not Mr. Howard’s case. The single fact giving rise to his claim is the vacatur of the New York conviction. And that fact had not been born in any form until the Queens court ruled.

Rather than the district court’s preferred authorities, the more instructive cases here are those in which petitions were deemed timely because they were properly founded on changes in the law. *See Bejarano v. State*, 122 Nev. 1066, 1071, 146 P.3d 265, 269 (2006) (en banc) (involving a new case about double-counting felony aggravators in capital cases); *Boston*, 131 Nev. at 984, 363 P.3d at 455 (concerning a new case about juvenile life sentences). When this Court has

regarded such petitions as timely, it is because the prisoner raised his claim within a year of the favorable precedent appearing. *See Bejarano*, 122 Nev. at 1071, 146 P.3d at 269 (explaining that “a claim pursuant to [a new] decision was not reasonably available to Bejarano” until the decision was published); *Boston*, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d at 455 (noting that the “Supreme Court did not decide” the favorable new case until 2010, and “Boston filed his petition within one year of the Court’s decision,” which constituted “good cause for the late filing” assuming that he was correct about the meaning of the new case).

Importantly, in neither *Bejarano* nor *Boston* did the Court ask whether the petitioner previously made the argument that later led to the change in the law, the approach the State is pushing here. Put differently, the Court did not pose the question of whether Mr. Bejarano had in a previous proceeding challenged the double-counting of aggravators or whether Mr. Boston in a previous proceeding challenged his life sentence as unconstitutional because of his age. As just stated, the Court inquired only into whether the inmates had advanced their claims within a year of the new cases upon which they were founded.

The same framework governs Mr. Howard’s claim. He asserted his claim as soon as the new order enabling it had been issued, and that is all the law required. If the district court were right that Mr. Howard had an obligation to make the underlying argument about the delayed sentence to a New York court earlier than

he did, then Mr. Bejarano would have had an obligation to attack the double-counting earlier and Mr. Boston would have had an obligation to present the youth-based Eighth Amendment theory earlier. After all, they were just as capable of doing so as Mr. Howard was of proceeding in New York's courts. The district judge's logic cannot be squared with this Court's methodology.

Admittedly, *Bejarano* and *Boston* deal with good cause in the context of an unavailable "legal basis," in the sense that the caselaw was not yet there to substantiate the claim. *Boston*, 131 Nev. at 984–85, 363 P.3d at 455; *accord Bejarano*, 122 Nev. at 1072, 146 P.3d at 270. But this Court has said that good cause "may be established where the factual or legal basis for the claim was not reasonably available." *Bejarano*, 122 Nev. at 1072, 146 P.3d at 270. There is no reason to treat the two differently, and good cause is present under Nevada precedent.

Apparently dissatisfied by Nevada precedent, the district court looked to U.S. Supreme Court opinions construing cause in the federal habeas context. Vol. 3 at 518. Such cases have no bearing here, where the only issue is whether Mr. Howard has cause under Nevada law. *See Brown v. McDaniel*, 130 Nev. 565, 574–75, 331 P.3d 867, 874 (2014) (en banc) (refusing to construe Nevada law on its post-conviction bars as identical with U.S. Supreme Court precedent on the corresponding defaults in federal habeas).

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