I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER & FASTRACK\2020 ANSWER\HOWARD, SAMUEL, 81278, 81279, RESP'S 

ANSW. BRF..DOCX 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
   

 

SAMUEL HOWARD,  

  Appellant, 

v. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

  Respondent. 

  

 

 

Case No. 81278 

                81279 

 

 

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 
 

Appeal From Order Denying Petition  
for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) 
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County 

 
 
JONAH J. HORWITZ 
(admitted pro hac vice) 
Idaho Bar #10494 
DEBORAH A. CZUBA 
(admitted hac pro vice) 
Idaho Bar #9648 
Federal Defender Services of Idaho 
702 West Idaho Street, Suite 900 
Boise, Idaho  83702

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

arguments involving statistics regarding deterrence, predictions of 

future victims, Howard’s lack of rehabilitation, aligning the jury with 

“future victims,” comparing victim’s life with Howard’s life, diluting 

jury’s responsibility by suggesting it was shared with other entities, 

voicing personal opinions in support of the death penalty and its 

application to Howard, references to Charles Manson, voice of society 

arguments and referring to Howard as an animal; 3) ineffective 

assistance of appellate counsel – failure to raise prosecutorial 

misconduct issues. 



 

I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER & FASTRACK\2020 ANSWER\HOWARD, SAMUEL, 81278, 81279, RESP'S 

ANSW. BRF..DOCX 

6 

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 25, 1988. George 

Franzen, Lizzie Hatcher, John Graves and Howard testified. 

Supplemental points and authorities were filed on October 3, 1988. The 

district court entered an oral decision denying the petition on February 

14, 1989. The district court concluded that trial counsel performed 

admirably under difficult circumstances created by Howard himself. As 

to the failure to present an insanity defense and present mental health 

records, the court found that Howard was canvassed throughout the 

proceedings about his refusal to cooperate in obtaining those records, 

particularly his refusal to sign releases. Howard knew what was going 

on, was competent and was trying to manipulate the proceedings and 

that there was no evidence to support an insanity defense, therefore 

counsel were not ineffective in this regard.  

On the issue of failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct, the 

district court found that defense counsel did object where appropriate 

and the arguments that were not objected to did not amount to 

misconduct and were a fair comment on the evidence. Even if some of 

the comments were improper, the district court concluded that they 

would not have succeeded on appeal as they were harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Formal findings of fact and conclusions of law were 

filed on July 5, 1989.1 

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district court’s denial 

of Howard’s first State petition for post-conviction relief. Howard v. 

State, 106 Nev. 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1990) (hereinafter “Howard II”). 

David Schieck represented Howard in that appeal. On appeal Howard 

raised ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel regarding the 

prosecutorial misconduct issues. The Supreme Court found three 

comments to be improper under Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 705 

P.2d 1126 (1985)2: 1) a personal opinion that Howard merited the death 

penalty, 2) a golden rule argument – asking the jury to put themselves 

in the shoes of a future victims and 3) an argument without support 

from evidence that Howard might escape. The Court found that counsel 

were ineffective for failing to object to these arguments but concluded 

there was no reasonable probability of a contrary result absent these 

 
1During the pendency of the first State petition for post-conviction relief, Howard 

filed his first Federal petition for habeas relief. That petition was dismissed without 

prejudice on June 23, 1988.  
2 Collier was decided two years after Howard’s trial. 
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remarks and therefore no prejudice. The Court rejected Howard’s other 

contentions of improper argument. 

With respect the mitigation evidence issues, the Nevada Supreme 

Court upheld the district court’s findings that this was a result of 

Howard’s own conduct and not ineffective assistance of counsel.3 

Howard proceeded to file a second Federal habeas corpus 

petition on May 1, 1991. This proceeding was stayed for Howard to 

exhaust his state remedies on October 16, 1991. Howard then filed a 

second State petition for post-conviction relief on December 16, 1991. 

Cal J. Potter, III and Fred Atcheson represented Howard in the second 

State petition.  In that petition, Howard alleged denial of a fair trial 

based on prosecutorial misconduct, namely: 1) jury tampering based on 

the prosecutor’s contact with the juror between the guilt and penalty 

phases; 2) expressions of personal belief and a personal endorsement of 

the death penalty; 3) reference to the improbability of rehabilitation, 

escape, future killings; 3) comparing Howard’s life with Dr. Monahan’s 

and 4) a statement that the community would benefit from Howard’s 

death. The petition also asserted an ineffective assistance of trial 

counsel claim for failing to explain to Howard the nature of mitigating 

circumstances and their importance. Finally the petition raised a speedy 

trial violation and cumulative error. 

The State moved to dismiss the second State petition as 

procedurally barred or governed by the law of the case on February 10, 

1992. In his reply, Howard dropped his speedy trial claim as 

unsubstantiated and indicated if the other claims were barred, then they 

had been exhausted and Howard could proceed in Federal court. 

The district court denied the petition on July 7, 1992. The district 

court found that the claims of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective 

assistance of counsel relating thereto as well as the claims relating to 

mitigation evidence had been heard and found to be without merit or 

failed to demonstrate prejudice. Such claims were therefore barred by 

the law of the case. The district court further concluded that any claim 

of cumulative error and any issues not raised in previous proceedings 

were procedurally barred. Finally, the district court found the speedy 

 
3 The State filed a petition for rehearing with respect to sanctions imposed on the 

prosecutor because his remarks violated Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 705 P.2d 

1126 (1985). The State noted that Howard’s trial occurred before Collier therefore 

the Court should not sanction counsel for conduct that occurred before the Court 

issued the Collier opinion. Rehearing was denied February 7, 1991. 
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trial violation was a naked allegation, frivolous and procedurally 

barred. 

Howard appealed the denial of his second State petition to the 

Nevada Supreme Court, which dismissed his appeal on March 19, 

1993. The Order Dismissing Appeal found that Howard’s second State 

petition was so lacking in merit that briefing and oral argument was not 

warranted. Howard filed a petition for Writ of Certiorari challenging 

the summary affirmance and the United States Supreme Court denied 

the request on October 4, 1993.  

On December 8, 1993, Howard returned to federal court and filed 

a new pro se habeas petition rather than lifting the stay in the previous 

petition. After almost three years, on September 2, 1996, the federal 

district court dismissed the petition as inadequate and ordered Howard 

to file a second amended federal petition that contained more than 

conclusory allegations. Thereafter Howard, now represented by 

Patricia Erickson, filed a Second Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas 

Corpus on January 27, 1997.  After almost five years, on September 23, 

2002, the Second Amended Federal petition was stayed for Howard to 

again exhaust his federal claims in state court. 

Howard filed his third State petition for post-conviction relief on 

December 20, 2002. Patricia Erickson represented him on this petition. 

The petition asserted the following claims, phrased generally as denial 

of a fundamentally fair trial or assistance of counsel under the Fifth, 

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution or 

as cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment: 1) 

failure to sever Sears robbery count from Monahan robbery/murder 

counts; 2) failure to suppress Howard’s statements to LVMPD and 

physical evidence derived therefrom; 3) speedy trial violation; 4) trial 

counsel actual conflict of interest – Jackson issue; 5) failure to give 

accomplice as a matter of law and accomplice testimony should be 

viewed with distrust instructions – Dwana Thomas; 6) improper jury 

instructions – diluting standard of proof - reasonable doubt, second 

degree murder as lesser included of first degree murder, premeditation, 

intent and malice instructions; 7) improper jury instructions – failure to 

clearly define first degree murder as specific intent crime requiring 

malice and premeditation; 8) improper premeditation instruction 

blurred distinction between first and second degree murder; 9) 

improper malice instruction; 10) improper anti-sympathy instruction; 

11) failure to give influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance 

mitigator instruction; 12) improper limitation of mitigation by giving 
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only “any other mitigating circumstance” instruction; 13) failure to 

instruct that mitigating circumstances findings need not be unanimous; 

14) prosecutorial misconduct – jury tampering, stating personal beliefs, 

personal endorsement of death penalty, improper argument regarding 

rehabilitation, escape and future killings; comparing Howard and 

victim’s lives, comparing Howard to notorious murder (Charles 

Manson) and improper community benefit argument; 15) use of felony 

robbery as aggravator and basis for first degree murder; 16) improper 

reasonable doubt instruction; 17) ineffective assistance of trial counsel 

– inadequate contact, conflict of interest, failure to contact California 

counsel to obtain records, failure to obtain Patton and Atescadero 

hospital records, failure to obtain California trial transcripts, failure to 

review Clark County Detention Center medical records, failure to 

challenge competency to stand trial, failure to obtain suppression 

hearing, failure to present legal insanity, failure to object to reasonable 

doubt instruction, failure to view visiting records and call witnesses 

based upon same, failure to call Pinkie Williams and Carol Walker in 

penalty phase, failure to investigate and call Benjamin Evans in penalty 

phase, failure to obtain San Bernardino medical records regarding 

suicide attempt, failure to obtain military records, failure to adequately 

explain concept of mitigation evidence, failure to object to 

prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments, failure to refute future 

dangerousness argument, failure to object to trial court’s limitation of 

mitigating circumstances and failure to object to instructions which 

allegedly required unanimous finding of mitigating circumstances; 18) 

ineffective assistance of appellate counsel – failed to raise claims 3, 4, 

6-9, 12, 13, 15, 16, 20 and 21 on appeal; 19) ineffective assistance of 

post-conviction counsel – failure to adequately investigate and develop 

all trial and appeal claims; 20) cumulative error; 21) Nevada’s death 

penalty is administered in an arbitrary, irrational and capricious 

fashion; 22) lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment 

and 23) the death penalty violates evolving standards of decency. 

The State filed a motion to dismiss Howard’s third State petition 

on March 4, 2001. The State argued that the entire petition was 

procedurally barred under NRS 34.726(1) (one-year limit) and NRS 

34.800 (five-year laches) and that Howard had not shown good cause 

for delay in raising the claims to overcome the procedural bars. The 

State also analyzed each claim and noted what issues had already been 

raised and decided adversely to Howard or should have been raised and 

were waived under NRS 34.810. 
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Howard filed an amended third State petition. The amended 

petition expanded the factual matters under Claim 17 regarding 

Howard’s family background that Howard asserted should have been 

presented in mitigation. 

On August 20, 2003, Howard filed his opposition to the State’s 

motion to dismiss his third State petition. As good cause for delay, 

Howard alleged Nevada’s successive petition and waiver bar (NRS 

34.810) is inconsistently applied and Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 

34 P.3d 519 (2001) is not controlling. Howard contended NRS 34.726 

did not apply because any delay was the fault of counsel not Howard 

and NRS 34.726 is unconstitutional and cannot be applied to successive 

petitions Pellegrini notwithstanding. Howard argued the Due process 

and Equal Protection clauses of the Federal Constitution bar application 

of NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810 to Howard. In addition, 

Howard asserted NRS 34.800 did not apply because the State had not 

shown prejudice and the presumption of prejudice was overcome by the 

allegations in the petition. 

The State filed a reply to the opposition on September 24, 2003. 

The district court issued an oral decision on October 2, 2003 dismissing 

the third State petition as procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and 

finding Howard had failed to overcome the bar by showing good cause 

for delay. The district court also independently dismissed the claims 

under NRS 34.810. Written findings were entered on October 23, 2003. 

Howard appealed the dismissal to the Nevada Supreme Court, 

which affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the third State petition 

on December 4, 2004. The High Court addressed Howard’s assertions 

that he had either overcome the procedural bars or they could not 

constitutionally be applied to him and rejected them. Among its 

conclusions, the Court noted that the record reflected Howard was 

aware that all his claims challenging the conviction or imposition of 

sentence must be joined in a single petition and that Howard had no 

right to post-conviction counsel at the time of the filing of his first and 

second State petitions for post-conviction relief and hence 

ineffectiveness of post-conviction counsel could not be good cause for 

delay.4 

Howard then returned to Federal district court where he filed his 

Third Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on October 23, 

 
4 See 1987 Nev. Stat., ch. 539, § 42 at 1230 (providing that appointment of counsel 

was discretionary not mandatory).  
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2005. Subsequently, without seeking approval from the Federal Court, 

the Federal Public Defender’s Office filed, on Howard’s behalf, the 

current Fourth State Post-Conviction Petition on October 27, 2007.  The 

State filed a motion to dismiss the Fourth State Petition on April 8, 

2008. The parties agreed to stay this case for several months while 

Howard sought permission from the Federal District Court to hold his 

federal petition for post-conviction habeas corpus in abeyance pending 

exhaustion of the claims already filed in the Fourth State Petition and 

of new claims he wished to file in State court as a result of the Ninth 

Circuit’s decision in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903, 910 (9th Cir. 

2007).  

The United States District Court denied Howards’ motion for 

stay and abeyance on January 9, 2009. Thereafter, Howard filed an 

Opposition to the State’s original motion to dismiss and an Amended 

Petition on February 24, 2009. The State responded to Howard’s 

opposition to the original motion to dismiss and additionally moved to 

dismiss the Amended Fourth Petition on October 7, 2009.5 Howard 

filed an Opposition to the Amended Motion to Dismiss on December 

18, 2009. Howard filed supplemental authorities on January 5, 2010. 

Argument on the State’s motion to dismiss was heard on 

February 4, 2010. The matter was taken under advisement so the district 

court could review the extensive record. A Minute Order Decision was 

issued on May 13, 2010, dismissing the Fourth State Petition as 

procedurally barred. A written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law was filed on November 6, 2010. 

Petitioner challenged this Court’s decision before the Nevada 

Supreme Court. Prior to ruling on this Court’s fourth denial of habeas 

relief, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an opinion in Howard v. State,